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WHO WE ARE

The Competition Commission (Commission) is an independent statutory
body established under the Competition Ordinance (Ordinance)
(Cap. 619) which was enacted in June 2012. The Commission is committed
to promoting a competitive environment that is conducive to free flow
of trade, efficiency and innovation, bringing increased choice and better
quality and lower prices of goods and services to consumers in Hong
Kong.

WHAT WE DO

The objective of the Ordinance is to prohibit agreements, practices and
conduct that prevent, restrict or distort competition, and to prohibit
mergers that substantially lessen competition in Hong Kong. The scope
of application of the Merger Rule is currently limited to mergers involving
undertakings directly or indirectly holding carrier licences issued under
the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106).

The Commission is tasked with the following functions under the
Ordinance:

. To investigate conduct that may contravene the competition rules
of the Ordinance and enforce the provisions of the Ordinance;

. To promote public understanding of the value of competition and
how the Ordinance promotes competition;

. To promote the adoption by undertakings carrying on business in
Hong Kong of appropriate internal controls and risk management
systems and to ensure their compliance with the Ordinance;

. To advise the Government on competition matters in Hong Kong
and outside Hong Kong;

. To conduct market studies into matters affecting competition in
markets in Hong Kong; and

. To promote research into and the development of skills in relation
to the legal, economic and policy aspects of competition law in
Hong Kong.
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The Commission’s Vision, Mission and Values embody the spirit in which
we carry out our duties to safeguard competition in Hong Kong by
enforcing the Ordinance.

VISION

To safeguard a level-playing field for consumers and businesses in
Hong Kong, enhancing economic vibrancy, stimulating innovation and

delivering consumer benefits.

MISSION

The Commission is committed to preventing anti-competitive
agreements, practices and conduct through nurturing a culture
conducive to competition, advocating rigorous compliance and engaging
in effective law enforcement.

VALUES

. We will strive to uphold a level-playing field in Hong Kong;

. We will act independently within the confines of the law;

. We will handle complaints, deal with applications and conduct
investigations in an impartial, objective and professional manner;

We will make ourselves accessible and accountable for our decisions

and actions; and

. We will treat all people with respect and uphold ethical standards.
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ON THE EVE OF FULL IMPLEMENTATION

| am pleased to present to you our third Annual Report covering the
period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015.

While previous years were dedicated to establishing the necessary
institutional framework, the past year has seen the Commission turning
its focus to stepping up its advocacy and engagement efforts.

The main task in the past year has been the development of a series
of guidelines that sets out how the Commission expects to interpret
and give effect to the Competition Ordinance. At the time of writing,
the Guidelines are finalised. This follows extensive consultation with a
wide spectrum of stakeholders including businesses, trade associations,
chambers of commerce, professional bodies, the Legislative Council and
the general public. The extent to which the Commission has gone to
ensuring that the Guidelines address the unique characteristics of Hong
Kong, and that the process was completely transparent and inclusive, has
been well-received. Most notably, the Commission did not shy away from
stating its position on certain contentious issues. The Executive and staff
should be justifiably proud of the positive feedback on their efforts and
the resulting quality of the Guidelines.

REFLECTIONS AND ASPIRATIONS

As we are on the final stretch to the full implementation of the Ordinance,
there is no better time to reflect on the journey so far.
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The introduction of competition law to Hong Kong is long overdue.
Indeed, its absence has been a curious anomaly for a mature and vibrant
economy such as ours. The enactment of the Ordinance was fraught with
challenges and its legislated form was the culmination of extensive and
rigorous public consultations and Legislative Council debates. Among
members of the business sector, it was surprising that no small degree
of initial resistance came from a group which has traditionally benefited
most under competition regimes, namely the small and medium

enterprises.

Different reasons are proffered to explain such an unexpected reaction.
The most cited are that competition law is a highly complex body of
law that is beyond the grasp of the average man, and that one can
inadvertently fall foul of it while going about normal business. Such
concerns are in fact more perceived than real. Businessmen, regardless
of the size of their commercial ventures, should readily subscribe to the
following basic principles:

(1) Afair and level-playing field for all businesses;

(2) No cartel-like activities in the forms of price fixing, market
allocation, output restriction and bid rigging; and

(3) No abuse of substantial market power to harm competition.

These simple principles reflect the essence of the law. For small and
medium enterprises, their primary concern should be to steer clear of
cartel-like activities. Businesses should compete to win customers rather
than harm competition by co-operating with their competitors. Larger
enterprises must avoid abusing their substantial market power to harm
competitors or potential competitors.

Contrary to what some detractors would have one believe, competition
law is not a legislative construct that stifles the enterprising spirit and
befuddles the masses. It is a pragmatic and fact-based legal framework.
The new law is pro-business as well as pro-consumer. Studies around the
world consistently demonstrate the positive and significant effects that
competition has on productivity growth. For example, the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development estimated that illegal gains
from price fixing amounted to around 10% of selling prices.
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Over the past year, the Commission has spared no effort in reaching out
to its stakeholders through active engagement. It has also conducted
publicity campaigns on multiple platforms, resulting in growing public
awareness of the purpose of the Ordinance. Certain trades have already
begun to cease long term business practices that might infringe the
competition rules, demonstrating the emergence of a compliance culture.
The latter development reflects well on our advocacy work. It also
illustrates that with proper understanding of the new legal proscriptions
and the rationale behind them, our predominantly law-abiding business
community is not loath to adjust their business practices.

Indeed, a sense of fair play is deeply ingrained in the collective psyche of
the people of Hong Kong. In time, | am confident that the full benefits of
the Ordinance and its potential to facilitate Hong Kong's vibrant markets
and enhance its overall economy through ensuring a level-playing field
for all will be felt in all aspects of our daily lives.

CONCLUDING REMARK

I would like to express my sincere thanks to Commission members whose
wise counsel and dedication have laid the necessary foundation for the
imminent implementation of the Ordinance. | must also register my deep
appreciation for the hard work of the Executive and staff led by the Chief
Executive Officer, Dr. Stanley Wong, in ensuring that the Commission will
be fully ready to discharge its duties and take on the many challenges

come full commencement of the Ordinance.

Anna WU Hung-yuk
Chairperson

7 September 2015
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Dr. Stanley Wong

The development and implementation of competition law are unique
experiences for any jurisdiction and it is no different for Hong Kong.

The text of the Competition Ordinance is inspired by the competition
laws of overseas jurisdictions and, in particular, those of the European
Union, United Kingdom and Australia. In general, the jurisprudence,
enforcement experience and practices of overseas jurisdictions under
their competition laws are very helpful to the Commission in considering
how to interpret the Hong Kong competition legislation. Some provisions
are inspired by the laws of one jurisdiction, other provisions are inspired
by the laws of other jurisdictions and with some provisions, the text
reflects the influence of several jurisdictions. Notwithstanding the
influence of overseas competition laws, the provisions of the Ordinance
must be interpreted with regard to the text and overall structure of the
legislation. This is the approach the Commission adopted in preparing
and publishing the Guidelines for applying and interpreting key
provisions of the Ordinance.

It is an international norm for competition enforcement agencies
to publish guidelines on the application and interpretation of their
competition laws. The unique challenge for the Commission is to prepare
the Guidelines which are required to be published by the Ordinance in
the absence of any relevant local enforcement experience or guiding
jurisprudence and where, unlike many overseas jurisdictions, findings
of contraventions of the competition rules may only be made by the
courts. Also, we had to take into account the nature and structure of the
Hong Kong economy, Hong Kong judicial process and laws of general
application.
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We are confident that we have succeeded in drafting guidelines which
are accessible and helpful to businesses and the general public. First, we
took into account the relevant guidelines and enforcement best practices
of leading overseas jurisdictions. Second, we engaged in three rounds of
public consultation, in May and October 2014 and March 2015. For the
Draft Guidelines released in October 2014 for consultation, we received
64 written submissions. The submissions made many constructive and
helpful comments. We carefully considered the comments and many
suggestions were taken into account in the Revised Draft Guidelines
which were published in March 2015. Third, for comments that did
not result in changes in the Revised Guidelines, we published a guide
explaining our rationale for not making the suggested changes.
Throughout the process we were guided by the principles of openness
and transparency and a desire to respond to the needs of the community.

At the time of writing, the Guidelines have been finalised and issued.

Public engagement is and will continue to be an important aspect of
the Commission’s work. As noted above, it has been an important part
of our work in drafting Guidelines. In the past year, the Commission has
actively participated in over 150 meetings with and seminars for small
and medium enterprises, chambers of commerce, trade associations,
professional bodies, the media and the public. Our engagement efforts
will not end with the finalisation of the Guidelines but will continue
as a major part of the Commission’s ongoing advocacy work to help
businesses and the general public understand and comply with the
Ordinance.

Over 100 jurisdictions have competition laws. With the globalisation of
business, it has become essential for competition agencies to cooperate
with their counterparts in other jurisdictions in the enforcement of
their respective competition laws. The Commission has started to
establish working relationships with many overseas competition
agencies, bilaterally and through intergovernmental bodies such as
the International Competition Network (ICN), and the Organisation of
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)/Korea Policy Centre.
The Commission has already benefitted greatly from these relationships.
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In particular, we want to acknowledge the generosity of the following
competition agencies for providing secondments for our staff to work as
case officers in their agencies: the Australian Competition and Consumer
Commission, the Canadian Competition Bureau, the Competition
Commission of Singapore and the New Zealand Commerce Commission.

The Commission, like all organisations, must have high quality staff
if it is to succeed in discharging its public responsibilities. The work
done by the Commission in the past year, especially with respect to
the Guidelines, would not have been possible without senior staff with
extensive experience in competition law and policy gained from overseas
competition agencies, private practice in Hong Kong and abroad and
public administration in Hong Kong. We are also fortunate to have
attracted highly motivated and accomplished middle-level staff locally
and from overseas with valuable experience in the practice of law,
investigation of white collar crimes and economic analysis. The smooth
day-to-day operation of the Commission since its establishment would
not have been possible without our dedicated team of professionals in
corporate services and public affairs. We are more than ready to handle
the responsibilities and face the challenges of the full implementation of
the Ordinance.

In closing, | would like to express my appreciation for the wise counsel
and support of the Chairperson and Commission Members. We also
appreciate the continuing support of the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau.

Dr. Stanley Wong
Chief Executive Officer

7 September 2015
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OBJECTIVE: ENSURING A LEVEL-PLAYING FIELD

In a free market economy, the market is the regulator. A competitive
market leads to better prices, products and choice for everyone, and
greater opportunities for businesses, especially smaller ones, to enter and
expand in new markets. Competition drives efficiency and innovation,
and directs businesses to meet consumer demands by providing the right
products at the right price and quality.

The introduction of a cross-sector competition regime to Hong Kong in
2012 was an important step in safeguarding and nurturing our shared
value of competition. The Ordinance seeks to protect the process of
competition, not individual competitors, and does so by making certain
business practices which undermine this process illegal.

THE COMPETITION RULES

The First Conduct Rule (FCR)

The FCR prohibits agreements or concerted practices and decisions of
associations of undertakings that have the object or effect of harming
competition in Hong Kong. Agreeing with competitors to cooperate or
coordinate rather than competing can risk contravening the FCR. Cartels,
in particular, undermine the competitive process by artificially raising
prices and costs for end consumers as well as other businesses, and can
restrict a firm’s ability to compete, leading to lost opportunities and

overall economic loss for Hong Kong.

Under the FCR:

. The Commission’s Guidelines provide extensive guidance on a
range of agreements to enable businesses to self-assess their
behaviour and relationships to ensure they avoid contravening the
FCR.

. For agreements that do not fall within the meaning of serious anti-
competitive conduct, businesses are excluded from the FCR where
their combined turnover does not exceed $200 million for the
turnover period.
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Serious anti-competitive conduct

Serious anti-competitive conduct is not part of the determination of
whether a contravention of the FCR has occurred. The determination of
serious anti-competitive conduct only arises after the Commission has
formed a view that the conduct contravenes the FCR. The Ordinance
defines serious anti-competitive conduct to mean four broad types of

conduct:

X Price fixing

X Market sharing

X Output restrictions
X Bid rigging

The Commission’s Guidelines provide guidance on what types of
agreement will be considered to be serious anti-competitive conduct.
This includes cartel arrangements between competitors, and in certain
circumstances, resale price maintenance. For agreements that amount to

serious anti-competitive conduct, there are two main consequences:

. The exclusion for agreements of lesser significance does not apply;
and
. After an investigation, the Commission, can as one possible

outcome, directly initiate proceedings before the Competition
Tribunal (Tribunal) in order to seek a suitable penalty or other order.

Other anti-competitive agreements

The FCR prohibits a range of other agreements which may be harmful to
competition. The Commission’s Guidelines provides detailed analysis of,
for example, group boycotts, activities of trade associations and industry
bodies, certain forms of joint ventures, franchising agreements and
selective distribution arrangements. Some agreements may be common
practice in a market and may not be anti-competitive. However in certain
contexts, such agreements may have the object or effect of preventing,
restricting or distorting competition.
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Where such activities are considered by the Commission to be anti-
competitive, businesses will first receive a Warning Notice and be given
an opportunity to cease their illegal behaviour. Failure to comply with
a Warning Notice may then result in other enforcement actions by the
Commission, including proceedings before the Tribunal.

The Ordinance has built in a “safe harbour” for small and medium
enterprises (SMEs). Businesses engaging in anti-competitive agreements
(other than serious anti-competitive conduct) are excluded from the
FCR where the combined turnover does not exceed $200 million for the
turnover period.

The Second Conduct Rule (SCR)

Under the SCR, businesses with a substantial degree of market power
are prohibited from abusing that power to harm competition. Certain
conduct (such as predatory pricing, bundling, tying or refusing to deal)
engaged in by businesses with substantial market power can have the
object or effect of excluding competitors from the market, thereby
limiting choices available to consumers. Businesses with turnover not
exceeding HK$40 million for the turnover period are excluded from the
SCR.

The Merger Rule

Mergers that have or are likely to have the effect of substantially
lessening competition in Hong Kong are prohibited under the Ordinance.
The scope of application of the Merger Rule is currently limited to
mergers relating to undertakings directly or indirectly holding carrier
licences issued under the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106). The
Merger Rule does not apply if the economic efficiencies from the merger
outweigh the harm caused to competition. Businesses may apply for
decisions from the Commission or the Communications Authority (CA) as
to whether their mergers are excluded.
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ENFORCING THE ORDINANCE

The Commission will exercise its discretion to direct its resources to the
investigation and resolution of matters that provide the greatest overall
benefit for Hong Kong's businesses and consumers. The Commission’s
Guidelines on Complaints and Investigations provide guidance on how
the Commission will encourage and handle complaints and outline the
procedural steps and protections in an investigation of a matter.

Institutional arrangements

The Ordinance adopts primarily a judicial enforcement model to separate
the powers of investigation and enforcement (by the Commission) from
those of adjudication and the imposition of penalties/other orders (by
the Tribunal). The Tribunal is a specialised tribunal established under
the Ordinance as a superior court of record and is responsible for
adjudicating cases of alleged contraventions of the competition rules.
The Tribunal is empowered to impose a broad range of remedies for
contraventions of a competition rule, including pecuniary penalties and
director disqualifications. The Tribunal also has jurisdiction to review
certain types of decisions made by the Commission and to hear “follow-
on claims” for damages by victims of anti-competitive behaviour.

The Ordinance provides that the CA will have concurrent jurisdiction
with the Commission in respect of the investigation and bringing of
enforcement proceedings of competition cases in the broadcasting and
telecommunications sectors. To this effect, the Commission and the
CA will enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) which will
provide for matters including the manner in which the two authorities
will cooperate and pursue enforcement actions relating to the concurrent
jurisdiction.
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Core principles in conducting and resolving investigations

As detailed further in the Commission’s Guideline on Investigations, in

relation to all investigations, the Commission:

. Will not comment on matters it may or may not be considering or
investigating, except in exceptional circumstances or to correct the
public record where details of the Commission’s investigation has
been made public by third parties;

. Will conduct investigations in an efficient and timely manner
with a view to avoiding lengthy processes or generating business
uncertainty. The Commission notes, however, the length of
investigations will differ markedly depending on issues such as
the complexity of the matter, the availability of evidence and the
cooperation of the parties under investigation;

. Will consider the full range of potential remedies available to
the Commission, including genuine offers from parties under
investigation to immediately address the Commission’s concerns;

. Will inform complainants in writing of the outcome of an
investigation; and

. Will be transparent in its outcomes of investigations and make
them public according to the Ordinance.

Remedies

To encourage compliance with the competition rules, the Ordinance
provides for a range of remedies which the Commission can seek from
businesses. The Commission’s Guideline on Investigations provides
guidance on the possible outcomes of an investigation stage. After an
investigation by the Commission, it may be concluded no further action
is warranted. However, the Commission may:

. Issue Warning Notices, Infringement Notices or accept commitments
in response to conduct the Commission considers may contravene
the Ordinance.
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Commence proceedings in the Tribunal seeking remedies including
a pecuniary penalty of up to 10% of an undertaking’s annual local
turnover per contravention for a maximum period of three years,
orders disqualifying people from serving as director of a company,
damages or other orders to cease and remedy the contravention at
issue.

Refer the matter to a Government agency or conduct a market
study.
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Tribunal can impose pecuniary
penalty — up to 10%

HK turnover
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Enforcement tools & remedies

EBEEMNE
Infringement Notice
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Leniency Agreements Commitments
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Leniency

When conducted in secret, cartels are notoriously hard to detect. One
of the key tools used by competition authorities around the world to
deter and detect cartels is to have a policy that provides some form of
immunity from prosecution/sanctions for the first business to inform
the competition authority of their involvement in a cartel. Ahead of
full commencement of the Ordinance, the Commission will publish
its approach to Leniency Agreements made under section 80 of the
Ordinance

EXEMPTIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

The Ordinance provides for a number of exemptions and exclusions. In
summary, the main exclusions apply to:

. Agreements enhancing overall economic efficiency;

. Agreements or conduct which has been undertaken in order to
comply with a legal requirement;

. Undertakings entrusted by the Government with a service of
general economic interest;

Agreements or conduct resulting in a “merger”;

. For the purposes of the FCR, agreements between undertakings if
the combined turnover of the undertakings does not exceed $200
million for the turnover period; or

. For the purposes of the SCR, conduct engaged in by an undertaking
with turnover not exceeding $40 million for the turnover period.

Each of these exclusions applies automatically without the need for a
prior determination by the Commission. The Commission’s Guidelines
have provided detailed guidance on the Commission’s interpretation of
these exclusions. Undertakings are therefore encouraged to self-assess
their conduct against the exclusions in Schedule 1 to the Ordinance to
determine if the relevant exclusion applies. However, for increased legal
certainty, undertakings can apply to the Commission for a decision as
to whether an agreement or conduct is exempt or excluded from the
application of the competition rule concerned.
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In addition, the Commission can issue block exemption orders to exempt
a category of agreements from the FCR, either on the application of an
undertaking or on the initiative of the Commission itself. The Commission
will consider such applications when the category of agreements is
of wider industry use or has been adopted sector wide. Before issuing
a block exemption order, the Commission needs to be convinced on
the basis of reliable evidence that there will be sufficient economic

efficiencies arising from such agreements.

The Chief Executive of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR)
in Council can also make an order to exempt certain agreements or
conduct on public policy grounds or to avoid conflict with Hong Kong's
international obligations. To date, no such orders have been made.

SUBSIDIARY LEGISLATION UNDER THE COMPETITION
ORDINANCE

Ahead of commencement of the Ordinance, the Government proposed a
number of regulations which came into effect in spring 2015:

. Competition (Turnover) Regulation — This clarifies how turnover is to
be calculated under the Ordinance for the purposes of determining
a pecuniary penalty, and whether the relevant exclusions from the
FCR and SCR are applicable. [The Commission has committed to
supplement the Regulation with further guidance for businesses.]

. Competition (Application of Provisions) Regulation — Although
statutory bodies are excluded from the Competition Rules and the
enforcement provisions of the Ordinance, the Chief Executive of
HKSAR determined that six statutory bodies ought to be brought
within scope. Those bodies are Ocean Park Corporation, Matilda
and War Memorial Hospital, Kadoorie Farm and Botanic Garden
Corporation, The Helena May, Federation of Hong Kong Industries
and The General Committee of the Federation of Hong Kong
Industries.
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Competition (Disapplication of Provisions) Regulation — The Chief
Executive of HKSAR determined that a number of entities relating
to the activities of the stock exchange should be excluded from
the Competition Rules and the enforcement provisions of the
Ordinance. Those entities are: The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited, Hong Kong
Securities Clearing Company Limited, HKFE Clearing Corporation
Limited, The SEHK Options Clearing House Limited, OTC Clearing
Hong Kong Limited and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited.

In the past year, the Judiciary continued to make progress in the drafting
of the Competition Tribunal Rules and associated rules pursuant to
section 158 of the Ordinance. Following consultation on the draft rules
with a subcommittee of the Legislative Council and other interested
parties, including the Commission, the rules have been introduced for

negative vetting in the summer of 2015.
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The Commission is committed to high standards of corporate governance
in conducting its duties in the best interest of the public and its
stakeholders. It strives to enhance the effectiveness of management of
the organisation, ensure its accountability to the public and transparency
of its operations through the disclosure of appropriate information on
its operation and governance. The Commission abides by the Ordinance
which governs many aspects of its operations and the supporting
functional committees. It also adopts appropriate principles and best
practices including control mechanisms, codes of conduct and corporate
governance arrangements that are applicable to public bodies.

COMMISSION MEMBERS (as of 31 March 2015)

The Commission exercises the functions as provided in the Ordinance. It
oversees the work of the executive arm of the Commission and approves
all major decisions. The Commission currently has a Chairperson and 13
Members, who were appointed by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR for
a period of three years. Commission Members are drawn from different
fields, including those who have relevant expertise and experience in
industry, commerce, economics, law, SMEs, accounting, finance and

consumer protection.
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Chairperson

The Hon Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP*

Ms. Anna Wu is a member of the Executive Council
and a lawyer. She chairs the Academic Board of the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws of the University
of Hong Kong and is a member of the International
Advisory Board of the Hong Kong International
Arbitration Centre. She previously served as a member
of the Legislative Council and as the Chairperson of
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority,
the Equal Opportunities Commission, the Consumer
Council and the Operations Review Committee of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption. Ms. Wu
was also a member of the Law Reform Commission
and the Hospital Authority. She was a Director of
the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited and a
Non-executive Director of the Securities and Futures
Commission.

Members

Member, Chairperson of Staff Committee

The Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen, GBS, JP*

Mr. Andrew Leung is a merchant. He is a member of
the Legislative Council, the Honorary Chairman of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries, and the Textile
Council of Hong Kong. He is a council member of the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council, a member
of the Economic Development Commission, the
Deputy Chairman of the Business Facilitation Advisory
Committee and a Director of The Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited.
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Member, Chairperson of Finance and
Administration Committee

Ms. Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen*

Ms. Agnes Chan is the Managing Partner of Ernst &
Young for Hong Kong and Macau. She is a member of
the Environment and Conservation Fund Committee,
the Inland Revenue Department Users’ Committee,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Appeal
Board, and the Telecommunications Users and
Consumers Advisory Committee of the Office of the
Communications Authority. Ms. Chan is also the
Vice Chairman of the Financial and Treasury Services
Committee and a member of the General Committee
of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a
member of the Corporate Advisory Council of the Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute, a member
of the Accounting Advisory Board of the Hong Kong
University School of Business, and a member of the
Advisory Board of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology Institute for Emerging Market Studies.

Mr. CHAN Kwok-wai, MH, JP*

Mr. Chan is the Managing Director of Kin Man Garment
Factory Ltd. He is a member of the Textiles Advisory
Board of the Trade and Industry Department, the
Advisory Committee on Water Resources and Quality
of Water Supplies of Water Supplies Department,
and a Design Admission Panel of Design Incubation
Programme of Hong Kong Design Centre. Mr Chan is
the Honorable President of The Hong Kong General
Chamber of Small & Medium Business and the
Deputy Chairman of The International Institute of
Management. He was a member of The Greater Pearl
River Delta Business Council, the Vetting Committee
of the SME Development Fund of the Trade and
Industry Department, and the Standing Committee on
Company Law Reform.

mEEEZE S ‘D‘ 2014 /2015 & 8§



HBER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

e £ o
BREELEERBBRBERRIHE -
EfMRBFEAMBEFRR - BRE
BETHRLEFZES RRHEAZE
ENREEMMKAOERFEREER
B i BMEENMEBRFIEAZEN
BEEKE XEREHBSERE
MZE g BEMZ T LoyolaK 2 HE
EREEMTHENXE -

BB E B3R - P>

BEEHERKLHEEE REBEE
BAABRE MIREHSBEERBE
i TISEE T RHRAIFT R
Bl BERBEZHREKES BH
BTREFMEERERZES (F
EQ)RNTES BEEREEHNE

FLERREEER HERRZE
EZ8 URBEBRIITHRETRS
HKNE R ERBRBUBLREHE
EEHRBEULLZEGLZE -

Mr. Thomas CHENG Kin-hon*

Mr. Thomas Cheng is an associate professor at the
Faculty of Law of the University of Hong Kong. His
research focuses on competition law and policy issues.
He is a member of the Administrative Appeals Board,
the Energy Advisory Committee, and the Committee
on Slots Complaints. Mr. Cheng also serves as a
member of the executive board of the Academic
Society for Competition Law (ASCOLA), a member
of the international advisory board of the American
Antitrust Institute and the Institute for Consumer
Antitrust Studies of the Loyola University Chicago.

Prof Leonard CHENG Kwok-hon, JP*

Professor Leonard Cheng is an economist and
President of the Lingnan University. His research
interests are in applied game theory, market structure,
technological innovation and imitation, currency crisis,
international trade and investment etc. Professor
Cheng is a Non-Executive Director of the Securities and
Futures Commission (SFC), the Chairman of Executive
Committee of the Investor Education Centre of the SFC,
a member of the Economic Development Commission,
and Independent Commission on Remuneration for
Members of the Executive Council and the Legislature,
and Officials under the Political Appointment System
of the HKSAR.
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Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP*

Mr. Michael Hui is the Managing Director of Freedom
Industrial Corporation Ltd. He is the Vice-Secretary
of the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association, Chairman of the Import & Export Industry
Training Advisory Committee, a member of the
Programme Management Committee of the Dedicated
Fund on Branding, Upgrading and Domestic Sales
(BUD Fund) (Enterprises Support Programme) and
Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation
Advisory Board, a Council member of the Hong Kong
Baptist University. Mr. Hui was the Chairman of the
Hong Kong United Youth Association, Central Policy
Unit’s Part-time Member, and a member of the Greater
Pearl River Delta Business Council, the West Kowloon
Cultural District Authority Consultation Panel, and the
Harbour-front Enhancement Committee.

Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP*

Mr. Kwok is an Honorary Senior Research Fellow at
the School of Economics & Finance of the University
of Hong Kong. He is a member of the Currency Board
Sub-Committee of the Exchange Fund Advisory
Committee, the Port Development Council, the
Aviation Development and Third-runway System
Advisory Committee, the Steering Committee and
Investment Committee of the HKSAR Government
Scholarship Fund, and an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Sunevision Holdings Ltd. and DBS Bank
(Hong Kong) Ltd. Mr. Kwok was the Government
Economist for the HKSAR Government, and the
Regional Chief Economist for East Asia of Standard
Chartered Bank.

‘24‘ 2014 /2015 F #§



HBER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

SRHKREE 5S4 - BBS » JP(E201485H31H) *
BMELERHERM  TEEER
VR REBYEREHERER
HEEGER RBABAZEZERE -
CRIEERBAMM B/ NARKE - i
LERERAZESZE  UR®EIMT
RERHEBRNEZEEGLZE - DEAE

“#Eﬁ%%aéﬁgir %%

ﬁ%%tﬁﬁﬁﬁiééif LA
hEBKREZERBKE -
I 22 -+

B Z T RAERBIERZIRIT (M)

WITES  NABARTEgIESR
ERRBEBELFERAAES BHFR
HEEHLFEHEEZEE 2HFH
WEKE TEABRERHSTES
EX(oRBE BEREREZERE
THEHSES-

Mr Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, BBS, JP (Until 31 May 2014)*
Mr. Larry Kwok is a practicing solicitor and also a
qualified accountant. He is the Chairman of the
Independent Police Complaints Council, Chairman
of the Transport Advisory Committee, a member
of the Mainland Opportunities Committee of the
Financial Services Development Council, the Land and
Development Advisory Committee and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Advisory Committee. Mr.
Kwok was Vice-Chairman of the Consumer Council,
Convenor of the Disciplinary Appeals Committee of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Chairman of the Traffic
Accident Victims Assistance Advisory Committee and a
member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board.

Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong*

Ms. Miranda Kwok is the Executive Director of China
Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation. She is the Vice
President of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers,
a director of Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited and a member of the Securities and Futures
Appeals Tribunal, the Public Affairs Forum, the Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Review Tribunal and the General
Committee of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries.
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Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai*

Dr. Anthony William Seeto is a telecommunications
engineer by profession. He is the Chairman of his
own investment company and the Director of IW
Management Services Ltd. Dr. Seeto is also a member
of the Communications Authority and a Fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He was an
executive committee member of the Communications
Association of Hong Kong and the Hong Kong IT
Federation, a member of the Telecommunications
Users and Consumers Advisory Committee of the
Office of the Communications Authority and the
Chairman of the Technology Committee of the
Australian Chamber of Commerce Hong Kong and
Macau.

Prof SUEN Wing-chuen (Since 21 November 2014)
Professor Wing Suen graduated from the University
of Hong Kong, and went on to obtain his doctorate
degree from the University of Washington. After
completing post-doctoral research at the University
of Chicago, Professor Suen returned to his alma mater
in 1989, and currently holds the position of Chair of
Economics at the School of Economics and Finance. He
has also held research or teaching positions at Simon
Fraser University, Harvard University, and the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Professor Suen has published
two books and more than forty academic papers.
He is an associate editor of two journals-the Pacific
Economic Review and Economics E-Journal-and is
programme leader of the Human Resources Research
Programme of the Hong Kong Institute of Economics
and Business Strategy. His public service includes
membership of the Minimum Wage Commission and
of the Standing Commission on Civil Service Salaries
and Conditions of Service.
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The Late Prof TSANG Shu-ki (Until 16 August 2014)*
Professor Tsang Shu-ki was a professor of economics
at the Hong Kong Baptist University before his
retirement in 2010. He had been a senior research
fellow of the Institute for Enterprise Development of
the university, a member of the Consumer Council, the
Telecommunications (Competition Provisions) Appeal
Board, and the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee
Currency Board Sub-Committee, as well as a director of
the Exchange Fund Investment Limited.

Ms. Gilly WONG Fung-han*

Ms. Gilly Wong is the Chief Executive of the Consumer
Council. She is a member of the Consumer Legal
Action Fund Management Committee, the Steering
Committee on Review of Hospital Authority, the
Steering Committee on Review of Regulation of Private
Healthcare Facilities, the Deposit-taking Companies
Advisory Board of the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority, the Estate Agents Authority, the Advisory
Committee on Travel Agents and the Travel Industry
Compensation Fund Management Board of the
Tourism Commission, and the Costs Committee of the
Department of Justice. Before joining the Consumer
Council, Ms. Wong was the General Manager of MICE
and Cruise of the Hong Kong Tourism Board.
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Mr. Simon WONG Kit-lung, JP*

Mr. Simon Wong is an engineer. He is an Executive
Director of a major catering group. Mr. Wong is a
member of the Liquor Licensing Board, the Minimum
Wage Commission, the Business Facilitation Advisory
Committee, the Mandatory Provident Fund Industry
Schemes Committee, and the Commission on Poverty
- Youth Education, Employment & Training Task Force.
He is also the Chairman of Wong Tai Sin District Fight
Crime Committee and the President of Institution of
Dining Art.

Mr WONG Kwai-huen, BBS, JP (Since 1 June 2014)

Mr. Wong Kwai-huen is a solicitor working as the
principal of an international law firm in Hong Kong.
He is serving on the boards of a number of public
bodies as well as professional bodies. They include the
Chairmanship of the Copyright Tribunal, the Deputy
Chairmanship of the Board of Review and a member of
the Hospital Authority. Mr. Wong is a former president
and a current council member of the Law Society of
Hong Kong. He is also the President of the Inter-Pacific
Bar Association.

* Appointment since 1 May 2013.
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FUNCTIONAL COMMITTEES

To facilitate the Commission’s work, two working committees were
established in May 2013, namely, the Staff Committee (SC) and the
Finance and Administration Committee (FAC). These committees meet
regularly and report their work to the Commission.

Staff Committee

The SC is chaired by a Member of the Commission, with four other
Members on the Committee. The Committee formulates principles and
guidelines governing human resources management matters, including
recruiting staff to the executive arm of the Commission and staff
management.

Functions

. To formulate principles and guidelines governing human resources
management matters including promotion and disciplinary matters;

. To decide on remuneration package, terms and condition of
employment of staff for posts below the Chief Executive Officer
level, unless otherwise decided by the Commission;

. To consider and approve recommendations of selection boards
and other matters related to the appointment, further employment
or termination of service in relation to staff below the level of
Executive Director;

. To advise, and to approve proposals each with an estimated value
not exceeding $5 million, on procurement matters related to staff
management or staff recruitment;

. To consider policy issues pertaining to human resources
management and make recommendations to the Commission; and

. To consider any other staffing matters and human resources
management issues referred to it by the Commission.

Membership list

The Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen, GBS, JP (Chairperson)
Mr. Thomas CHENG Kin-hon

Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP

Ms. Miranda KWOK Pui-fong

Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai
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Finance and Administration Committee

The FAC is chaired by a Member of the Commission, with three other

Members on the Committee. The Committee formulates principles and

guidelines governing financial and administrative matters, including

financial management control, accounting procedures and general

administration management.

Functions

To formulate principles and guidelines governing administrative
and financial matters;

To advise the Commission on the investment objectives and
strategies, having regard to such classes of investment as the
Financial Secretary may specify in writing;

To review and make recommendations on the draft Annual
Estimates of Expenditure of the Commission;

To review the draft statements of accounts of the Commission;

To review the audit reports, audit findings and monitor the
implementation of actions arising from the audit reports;

To review the draft annual report on the activities of the
Commission;

To make recommendations to the Commission in respect of the
appointment of an auditor;

To advise, and to approve proposals, on matters in relation to the
leasing or acquisition of the Commission’s office accommodation;
To advise, and to approve proposals each with an estimated
value not exceeding $5 million, on procurement matters, with the
exception of procurement matters under the purview of the Staff
Committee;

To consider policy issues pertaining to financial management
control, accounting procedures and general administration of the
Commission and make recommendations to the Commission; and
To consider any other administrative and financial matters referred
to it by the Commission.

Membership List

Ms. Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen (Chairperson)

Mr. CHAN Kwok-wai, MH, JP

The Late Prof TSANG Shu-ki (Until 16 August 2014)

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP (Since November 2014)
Mr. Simon WONG Kit-lung, JP

g ‘30‘ 2014 /2015 F #§



BREEREETER

HBER
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

COMMISSION AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

REEFEAN BZGHEBHAINEHE - HZE  In the year under review, a total of 11 Commission meetings were
CETWEZES  MAEELZEE P NIT convened. The two Commission committees, namely SC and FAC,
BZEg HRBFEIAKR4REHE - FSZ8H  convened 3 and 4 meetings respectively. Attendance records of Members
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are shown as follows:

Attendance Record of Competition Commission Meetings

April 2014 to March 2015 (11 meetings)

i E R
No. of times present
Hon Anna WU Hung-yuk 11
Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen 9
Ms Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen 9
Mr CHAN Kwok-wai 11
Mr Thomas CHENG Kin-hon 8
Prof Leonard CHENG Kwok-hon 8
Mr Michael HUI Wah-kit 9
Mr KWOK Kwok-chuen 10
Mr Larry KWOK Lam-kwong (Until 31 May 2014) 2
Ms Miranda KWOK Pui-fong 9
Dr Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai 11
Prof SUEN Wing-chuen (Since 21 November 2014) 3
The Late Prof TSANG Shu-ki (Until 16 August 2014) 3
Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han 8
Mr Simon WONG Kit-lung 9
Mr WONG Kwai-huen (Since 1 June 2014) 8
Attendance Record of Staff Committee Meetings
April 2014 to March 2015 (3 meetings)
i E R

No. of times present

Hon Andrew LEUNG Kwan-yuen
Mr Thomas CHENG Kin-hon

Mr KWOK Kwok-chuen

Ms Miranda KWOK Pui-fong

Dr Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai

w w w N W
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Attendance Record of Finance and Administration Committee Meetings

April 2014 to March 2015 (4 meetings)

HE R

No. of times present

PRIGIBZZ L& Ms Agnes CHAN Sui-kuen 4
PR B /2 5 A Mr CHAN Kwok-wai 4
FFEAE A (F20145F11 A#E) Mr Michael HUI Wah-kit (Since November 2014) 2
TR (B#) (£2014F8H16H)  The Late Prof TSANG Shu-ki (Until 16 August 2014) 1
=L L Mr Simon WONG Kit-lung 1
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TRANSPARENCY TO THE COMMUNITY

The Commission considers transparency a foundation of good corporate
governance and has taken an open approach to disclosing information
about its operations. The Commission endeavours to maintain interactive
communication with the public and stakeholders by providing timely
and appropriate information through various channels including media
briefings, press releases, annual report, formal announcements and the
Commission’s bilingual website (www.compcomm.hk).

Launched in April 2014, the Commission’s website presents a
comprehensive platform to provide local and overseas visitors with
first-hand information, including the Ordinance, drafts of Guidelines
and the submissions received, corporate structure, press releases and
publications, speeches and presentations, various forms of educational
materials as well as the Commission’s latest news and activities. The
Commission also offers a free email alert service for members of the
public to sign up for notification of the latest updates on the website.
A designated telephone hotline and an email account handle enquiries
regarding the Ordinance and the Commission’s work as well as
complaints on competition issues in Hong Kong from businesses and
the public. A total of 489 enquiries were received during the year under

review.
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CONTROL MECHANISMS

Financial Resources

The operations of the Commission are financed by the annual subvention
from the Government and the reserve fund. As of 31 March 2015, the
balance of the reserve fund was $32.2 million. The Commission continued
to exercise stringent control over our spending and remain prudent
in preparing the annual budget. The Government has agreed that the
Commission may deploy its surplus above the reserve ceiling for a
number of initiatives that are necessary to lay the groundwork for our
start-up stage. The surplus will be used by the Commission for a range of
activities in preparation for the full implementation of the Ordinance.

Following the launch of the Financial Information System at the end
of June 2014, steps were taken to ensure its efficient running by re-
designing the chart of accounts to suit the specific requirements of
the Commission. Reports on the Commission’s financial standing are
compiled regularly for the purposes of routine monitoring and resource
management by the executive team while a “Summary of Financial
Position” which outlines the income and expenditure position of the
Commission is submitted to the FAC and the Commission for their review
on a quarterly and semi-annually basis respectively to ensure proper
scrutiny is exercised.

Budget monitoring and control

As part of the budget monitoring and control mechanism, the
Commission’s operating expenses budget and revised budget for the
following year are reviewed and endorsed by the FAC before submission
to the Commission for approval. The approved operating expenses
budget will then be submitted to the Government.
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Internal Control

Having a good internal control mechanism is important for the
Commission. Briefings and on-the-job training for new staff are
conducted to ensure sufficient understanding of their respective roles
and responsibilities in the Commission. Delegation of authorities in
respect of different activities are made known to each level of staff
through circulars and briefings in order to ensure internal guidelines are
understood by all concerned.

A case management system, which is the key application system for the
Commission’s enforcement operations, will be put in place for proper
classification and handling of information. Access to confidential or
sensitive information is only granted to authorised staff members to
protect the confidentiality of information.

External Checks and Balances

The financial statements of the Commission are subject to audit by an
external auditor which is not engaged in any other non-audit services for
the Commission. KPMG was appointed to be the Commission’s external
auditor in the financial years of 2014/15 and 2015/16 following a formal
tender exercise.

CODE OF CONDUCT

To safeguard public interest and accountability as well as to uphold
integrity and impartiality, the Commission has issued a Code of Conduct
for Commission/Committee Members which sets out, inter alia, the
prohibition of solicitation, acceptance or offering of advantages, and
avoidance of conflict of interests through disclosure of interests.
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The Commission has maintained a register of interests containing
the pecuniary and personal interests of members in respect of their
directorships and shareholdings in companies, remunerated employment,
ownership of property or land and memberships of boards and other
organisations engaging in economic activities relevant to Hong Kong.
The register is available for public inspection on the Commission’s
website and at the office of the Commission. During the year under
review, Members were reminded on a quarterly basis to update their
declarations. In accordance with the rules of procedure, where a written
resolution via circulation of a paper or a discussion of matters at a
meeting might give rise to a conflict of interest, Members would duly
make appropriate disclosures and abstain from voting, or withdraw from
the relevant meetings during the discussion of an item concerned.

The Commission is committed to engaging, attracting and retaining a
high quality workforce with strong professional standards and integrity.
The Commission has adopted a Code of Conduct for staff which aims
to promote high ethical standards and fair dealings in the conduct of
its operations. The Code of Conduct sets out the expected standard of
behaviour and reminds staff of their legal and contractual obligations
to the Commission. It also provides specific guidelines on various
issues, such as confidentiality of information, offer and acceptance of
advantages, avoidance of conflicts of interest, declaration of financial and
other interests etc. In addition, the Commission also continued to arrange
briefing sessions with other agencies like the Independent Commission
Against Corruption to enhance our staff's understanding of laws and
regulations that will be relevant to how they conduct themselves and the
way they carry out their duties.
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THE COMMISSION’S GUIDELINES

The Ordinance requires the Commission to adopt a number of Guidelines
on the manner in which it will interpret and give effect to each of
the Competition Rules and the procedural aspects of the Ordinance
(Complaints, Investigations, Applications for decision and block
exemption orders). With the exception of the Guideline on the Merger
Rule, the Guidelines apply to all sectors of the Hong Kong economy and
do not distinguish between particular sectors or industries.

The Guidelines have represented an important task for the Commission in
the past year. Extensive efforts were devoted to engage with and listen to
the needs of businesses and thus provide useful and useable guidance.

Engagement: Getting prepared for full implementation of
the Ordinance

In May 2014, the Commission published its paper “Getting prepared for
full implementation of the Competition Ordinance”. With its publication,
the Commission began an extensive programme of outreach events to
businesses and the general public to explain the role of the Commission,
advocate the benefits of the Ordinance and explain the key elements of
and remedies available under the Ordinance.

s Hone Weth
At rEE
Senior Fuecwtihe [
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In May 2014, the Commission published its paper “Getting prepared for full implementation of the Competition Ordinance”.
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The Commission engaged directly with a significant number of
stakeholders during the engagement exercise including SMEs, business
chambers, industry associations and professional advisers. It learnt more
about current trade practices conducted in various sectors, which was
vital to ensure the Guidelines would best suit the needs of the business
community in future. The feedback received, both in meetings and in
writing, was of great assistance in terms of helping the Commission
understand stakeholders’ expectations for Draft Guidelines and
identifying areas where guidance might be particularly useful.
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The Commission engaged directly with a
significant number of stakeholders during
the engagement exercise.

Consultation on the Draft Guidelines

On 9 October 2014, the Commission published a set of six Draft
Guidelines. The drafts drew on best practices from other competition law
regimes and took account of the views and feedback the Commission
collected during the engagement exercise. The Draft Guidelines included
many examples to assist businesses to understand and comply with
the Ordinance.

The Commission was pleased that the response to the consultation was
both extensive and detailed. The Commission received 64 submissions
from a range of stakeholders, including trade associations, chambers
of commerce, political parties, public bodies, professional advisory
bodies, private organisations and individuals. These submissions and the
feedback provided in meetings with a range of organisations assisted
the Commission in identifying areas where amendment of the Draft
Guidelines was merited to clarify particular points or provide additional
guidance.
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Consultation on the Revised Draft Guidelines

The Revised Draft Guidelines were published on 30 March 2015 following
careful consideration by the Commission of the feedback received from
stakeholders during the public consultation. Over 600 pages of comments
were carefully reviewed by the Commission and taken into account in the
publication of the Revised Draft Guidelines. In responding to the requests
made, the Commission refined its approach on a range of topics, as well
as providing new guidance and hypothetical examples on additional

areas.

BMEEH2015F3 A308 HREFTELIES| -
The Revised Draft Guidelines were published on 30 March 2015.

The Commission also published a detailed “Guide to the Revised Draft
Guidelines Issued Under the Competition Ordinance” which summarised
its approach to preparing the Revised Draft Guidelines including
how it addressed key issues raised in the submissions received from
stakeholders.

Adoption of the Guidelines

In response to the Revised Draft Guidelines, the Commission received
further submissions from businesses, law firms and a Legislative Council
member. As required under the Ordinance, the Commission also
consulted the Legislative Council. On the basis of those comments, the
Commission will finalise the Guidelines in the summer of 2015.

The Commission’s publications referred to above and all written

submissions received are available on the Commission’s website.
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MARKET STUDIES

The Commission actively carried out its function of conducting market
studies into matters affecting competition in markets in Hong Kong.
In connection with market studies, the Commission also carried out its
function of advising the Government on competition matters on relevant
issues arising out of these market studies.

Market studies at the Commission are used to achieve different outcomes
according to different circumstances and requirements. One outcome
is to understand the structure and competition conditions of a market.
Another outcome is to obtain information about particular sectors
and types of conduct that may merit consideration for enforcement
purposes, thereby assisting the Commission to pursue its enforcement
function; this function will be particularly important once the Ordinance
commences in full. A further outcome is to identify particular sectors in
which there may exist systematic competition problems that may merit
being addressed by broader Government policy solutions rather than by
specific enforcement action; this outcome can assist the Commission to

pursue its Government advisory function.

During the year under review, the Commission commenced an active
work programme of market studies on different sectors of the economy
taking into account all of these different outcomes and uses of market
studies. The Commission has commenced and undertaken background
and informational research, enforcement-focused market studies, and
policy-focused market studies on a number of industries and continues to
do so.

One example is that the Commission has considered and analysed a range
of issues in respect of the building management sector, including certain
competition related matters. In February 2015, the Commission made a
submission to the Home Affairs Department’s public consultation on a
series of proposed amendments to the Building Management Ordinance.
In its submission, the Commission expressed support in general for steps
proposed by the Government that could enhance competition in markets
related to building management. The Commission also pointed out that
the property sector involves a wide range of complex issues for which no
single amendment can solve all competition problems. This submission
was based on substantial competition research and analytical work on
this sector previously undertaken by the Commission.
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EMARERBE TE ENGAGEMENT AND EDUCATION

BT HIRTIESION - BT RS DA FHEITHRE  Apart from preparation of the Guidelines, engagement with and
THETRHREZSHREIEFEARNMNIZLTE- education of various stakeholders was another core task of the
Commission during the year under review.

B2014F AR BRES—HBIREMBAR  Since mid-2014, the Commission has been actively reaching out to the
EEf o BEUEIDHEZEARNRD R - WU public and businesses to explain the key elements and benefits of the
EXREESIMER - I MESIH—HE  Ordinance as well as to collect views on the Guidelines. The Commission
BmEMITEREBRRAE  FEEMEMHBBE  has also been working with trade and industry associations so that they
g EEFHAD - can assist their members to comply with the new law.

BEEHEBEBEBARKER  BEUKIDNEIENARTE -

The Commission has been actively reaching out to the public and businesses to explain the key elements and benefits of the Ordinance.

EBEARNENRHEF (BE2015%3A31RH)
Engagement Facts and Figures (As of 31 March 2015)

27T

130
e

briefings/meetings

L

JR major seminars conducted
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“Competition Ordinance and SMEs” brochure

COMPETITION COMMISSION

In December 2014, the Commission launched the Distinguished
Speaker Lecture Series to provide a platform for outstanding thinkers on
competition law and policy to share their views with the growing Hong
Kong competition law community, government, business leaders and the
general public. The inaugural lecture was delivered by Mr. Eduardo Pérez
Motta, former Chair of the Mexican Federal Competition Commission
and International Competition Network, who shared his experience on
starting a competition policy in a market economy.

In December 2014, the “Competition Ordinance and SMEs” brochure was
published to assist SMEs in understanding their rights and obligations
under the Ordinance. It describes the major types of anti-competitive
conduct and how they are relevant to SMEs in an easy-to-understand
approach with hypothetical examples and illustrations. The content was
developed with reference to issues raised by SMEs in various meetings
and seminars organised by the Commission.

82‘ > nownsng
COMMISSION

Eduardo Pérez Mottast 472 [ i 38 E R | M B F852E -
The inaugural lecture of the Distinguished Speaker Lecture
Series was delivered by Mr. Eduardo Pérez Motta.
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MEDIA & PUBLICITY

The Commission has an advocacy role under the Ordinance, which it takes
very seriously and has begun in earnest with a wide range of publicity
programmes. As an open and transparent organisation, the Commission
also endeavours to maintain effective and bilateral communications with
the public and the mass media in providing updates on the Commission’s
development.

Throughout the year, the Commission held 12 media events/gatherings,
issued 9 press releases and received 18 press interviews to keep local and
international media abreast of its latest development and the progress
of its work. These efforts generated extensive coverage and positive
publicity for both the Commission and the Ordinance.

The Commission kept local and international media abreast of its latest development during the year.

RELEEBETRARLBEOZATE - BEg
MNERSHEEA REASEETN2014F107
FBEN  BARATREBINEI) REEE
RAEBRNEE o Lo BEUETERARE
TRANHERR BESRERRBFETANE
BRSFTENESZ I - FH U ESHMNE
EEEBRAEHEMNORBEFES - BRI
Farst - AR AR LHIFEZ AL R
YouTube * [& 52 7N i B2 ) HNER TR &R ©

To tie in with its engagement and consultation programme, TV and radio
Announcements of Public Interests (API) were broadcast from October
2014 to educate the public about the benefits brought by the Ordinance
to both consumers and businesses. An educational video on cartels
was also produced to explain the key concept of the most common
anti-competitive conduct and the importance of compliance. The
Commission received positive feedback on the educational video, which
has successfully turned complicated anti-competitive concepts into easy-
to-understand real life scenarios. These videos uploaded to both the
Commission’s website and YouTube were very well-received, both locally
and internationally.
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With the aim of reaching out to a wider audience, the Commission
actively explored different channels to effectively deliver its messages
across the community. An extensive and comprehensive media and
advertising campaign on print, bus, MTR and online platforms including
Yahoo, Facebook and YouTube was conducted from October 2014 to
January 2015. The mix of traditional and new media platforms served to
maximise the Commission’s exposure and awareness of the Ordinance.
A second media campaign solely on public transport for the educational
video on cartels was launched to tie in with the release of the Revised
Draft Guidelines in March 2015.

The Commission’s website is an important public interface and
engagement platform to disseminate information relating to the
Commission’s development and operations in an open manner to
the public and stakeholders. After its launch in late April 2014, the
Commission updates its website regularly with latest news on its progress
of work, details of seminars and events as well as various publications
and educational materials. The website received around 2.4 million hits
as of 31 March 2015.

i =k

o$

RTERZHEBAR  BHEZGBBIMRTRARE  EMARSALSEEREME

With the aim of reaching out to a wider audience, the Commission actively explored different channels to effectively deliver its messages

across the community.
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COMPETITION
LAW CONFERENC

>

2014

CCS@10:
REFLECTING
ON THE PAST AND

LOOKING
AHEAD

st 2014

MR BEFLREEHRF AT S
The Competition Commission of Singapore
Competition Law Conference

INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES

During the early stage of its development, the Commission has been
actively learning from and liaising with its international counterparts.
Such exchanges are important to ensure that the Commission’s
procedures reflect international best practices. In addition, given the
outward looking nature of the Hong Kong economy, there will likely
be many opportunities for the Commission to co-operate closely with
overseas authorities on different matters within its purview.

The Commission became a member of the International Competition
Network (ICN) in December 2013. During the year under review, the
Commission participated in the Annual Meeting of ICN in Marrakesh
Morocco in April 2014 and staff members attended the Cartels Workshop
in Taipei, Taiwan in October 2014. The Commission also contributed to
various projects of the ICN working groups.

The Commission was also an active participant in the Organisation
for Economic Development (OECD)/Korea Policy Centre Competition
Programme. Staff from the Commission attended training sessions on the
Retail Sector in December 2014 in Busan and Effective Merger Control in
March 2015 in Jeju.

T Wy

DMERE AR E
Global Competition Law Forum Asia

Organised byt

Spoeor by: Spomar by

CRA
Linklaters E intel)

CRA e (G .'_'i.

M FRIE
Asian Competition Forum
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The Commission also took part in regional conferences including the
Competition Commission of Singapore Competition Law Conference in
August 2014, the East Asia Top Level Officials’ Meeting on Competition
Policy in Tokyo in October and the Asian Competition Forum in Hong Kong
in December 2014.

The Commission received visitors from overseas competition authorities
and visiting international academics and practitioners. In March 2015,
the CEO and senior executives met with officials of Directorate-General
Competition at the European Commission in Brussels.

CAPACITY BUILDING

The Commission continued to build towards its full complement of staff
members during the year. The recruitment process was closely overseen
by the Staff Committee. The Chief Executive Officer reported for duty
in September 2014. By the end of March 2015, the Commission had 43
staff members. The Commission has recruited a number of staff with
experience in overseas competition agencies, or as private competition
law practitioners. Other recruits had backgrounds in enforcement
and regulatory agencies in Hong Kong or relevant economics and
investigations experience.

During the course of the year, a range of measures were undertaken to
train and develop staff in preparation for the full commencement of the
Ordinance. Many internal training sessions were held. Staff members
were encouraged to attend conferences and seminars and in many
cases had the opportunity to present information about the Ordinance.
Financial assistance and examination leave were provided to support staff
to undertake individual academic study in relevant disciplines. Four staff
members were sent on short term secondments to overseas competition
agencies to obtain practical enforcement experience.

The Commission also continued to develop its infrastructure so that it
will be ready to undertake its operations in an effective and professional
manner. A project to build a comprehensive case management, database
and document control system has commenced. Work has also begun
on preparing internal manuals and procedures. A library of relevant text
books and subscriptions to legal services was established and a repository
of information about latest overseas developments is being built up.
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5
0
20-31/7 8/2014 9/2014
2014
2 15 10

INVESTIGATION AND COMPLAINTS

As the Ordinance is not yet in full effect, there were no investigations or
proceedings. However, the Commission is contacted by businesses and
consumers who have questions or concerns about competition in markets
in Hong Kong. From 20 July 2014 to 31 March 2015, the Commission
received a total of 96 operational related contacts from parties such as
consumers, SMEs, larger businesses and trade associations across a range
of industries. Over one third of these contacts related to issues which, if
the Ordinance were in force, might have warranted further assessment by
the Commission. Fifty-four contacts related to the FCR, with 28 of these
contacts related to queries about cartels or allegations of cartel conduct.

Below is a summary of the contacts:

1. Number of contacts

10/2014 11/2014 12/2014 1/2015 2/2015 3/2015

BEEARNE N, REF
Operational related contacts

15 17 14 10 5 8
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2 BT ERENERE AT 2. Backgrounds of entities/individuals contacting the
Commission
Hity
LI Omers

10%
Enforcement agency

1%
e
Trade association
8%

ERIAL
Individual
30%

52 EE (GEh/ i)
Market player (Non-SME)
14%

min2EE (h/hi)
Market player (SME)
37%

3.5 ERFTH R EITE 3. Industries concerned in the contacts

34
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Cartels & 7% RPM iR iZe2 &£ (B 1K

E—1735TRIFCR
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Other contacts relating
to the Ordinarnce

5850, RFHER 5. Outcome of contacts
=N F
EhiiE
EAh Referred to
Oth h
ﬂiﬁg@% ;(;rs anot! e3r0/jgency

Reply not possible

10% BEREEBER

Enquiry answered
33%
ERBIE2ERE
(I HARERD
Information kept for reference
(Ordinance not in effect)
36%
TEHEFA
Non-competition issue

15%
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FREE
THE WAY FORWARD

The Competition Ordinance has come a long way to reach the final stage
towards its full implementation. 2014/15 was a very busy and fruitful year
for the Commission but an even more ambitious and challenging agenda
lays ahead for the year of 2015/16 when the long-awaited competition
law finally becomes reality.

Final preparations for enforcement

Following the consultation with the Legislative Council in April 2015, the
Commission will adopt and issue a finalised set of Guidelines and finalise
the text of the MoU with the Communications Authority which will be
signed shortly after the Ordinance comes into full effect. It will produce
a number of operational documents such as a leniency policy and a
statement of the Commission’s enforcement priorities.

Market studies

The Commission will continue to conduct a structured market studies
programme for the purposes of providing market information and for
assisting in informing enforcement and policy advocacy positions. For
instance, the Commission has commenced competition market studies
on the auto fuels and the building maintenance and renovation sector
which is part of a broader work programme concerning different markets
connected to residential real estate.

Ongoing engagement and education

An effective competition regime can only be achieved when enforcement
of the competition rules is coupled with active engagement with and
education of the public and various stakeholders. The Commission will
continue to engage with its stakeholders through meetings and seminars
as well as liaisons with trade and industry associations. It will also
participate in events targeting businesses, especially SMEs, organised by
other public organisations.
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The Commission is particularly aware that the Guidelines are by their
nature technical and detailed. With this in mind, it will continue
to provide alternative guidance by releasing publications to assist
businesses to comply with the new law. These will include easy-to-
understand publications with practical guidance tailored to the interests
and needs of specific sectors or entities such as trade associations.
Production of self-assessment tools is also in the pipeline to enable
businesses to make timely adjustments to their business practice and
minimise the risk of contravening the Ordinance.

Advocacy and publicity

The Commission is primed to roll out a range of advocacy and
promotional campaigns targeting the general public and businesses in
2015/16. These include roving exhibitions in selected major shopping
centres and production and broadcast of APIs, educational videos, TV and
radio programme series in which hypothetical examples will be presented
in real-life scenarios to illustrate the main provisions of the Ordinance.
These initiatives will be supported by extensive media and advertising
initiatives in a mix of traditional and online media platforms to maximise
its outreach.

To cope with the full implementation of the Ordinance and to better
accommodate new and expanding content, the Commission is going
to revamp its website for an enhanced structure, concept and layout in
the year ahead. On the media front, the Commission will continue to
foster close and effective relations with the local and international press
through regular media events and releases.

Since the launch of its engagement and advocacy programmes across
Hong Kong in the middle of 2014, the Commission has observed
increased public awareness and strong interest from businesses. The
Commission has received and addressed enquiries from businesses
and trade associations on various competition-related issues. Many
businesses, trades and professional bodies have started to review their
practices and identify risk areas, with some already taking anticipatory
steps to ensure compliance with the Ordinance. In time, the Commission
hopes to see a concerted effort to create a level-playing field in all
manners of business in Hong Kong.
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BrighaR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

By ZHERES
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report to the Commission Members of
Competition Commission
(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

We have audited the financial statements of Competition Commission
(“the Commission”) set out on pages 53 to 76, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2015, the income and
expenditure account, statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in funds and statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

The Commission’s responsibility for the financial statements

The Commission is responsible for the preparation of financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and for such internal control as the Commission determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the Commission, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Commission as at 31 March 2015 and of the
Commission’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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hzkE
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

EHZ2015%3 831H IEF[E for the year ended 31 March 2015
(LB B %) 7R ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2015
B2t Note BT HKS

A Income
IR T % B
Government subventions 3 80,562,273 65,170,662
FEWA
Interest income 687,154 8,373
FMIEWA
Sundry income 45 117

81,249,472 65,179,152
¥ tH Expenditure
BEMX
Staff expenses 4 34,161,409 15,031,760
e
Depreciation 5 6,406,981 851,250
Be BT S
Premises expenses 6,174,079 6,316,129
EEEABHELH
Publicity and public education expenses 3,568,914 6,432
%A B &
Auditor’'s remuneration 140,000 75,000
HEEZENS
Honorarium to Commission members 11 3,786,667 3,520,000
HibhZEER
Other operating expenses 9,477,876 8,589,667

63,715,926 34,390,238
F A A 8% Surplus for the year 17,533,546 30,788,914

F58EFT6EH MM B AMEWMERN —H7 ©  The notes on pages 58 to 76 form part of these financial statements.

COMPETITION COMMISSION ‘ 53 ‘ ANNUAL REPORT 2014/ 2015



Br iRk

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EHENZER

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EZ2015% 3831 H ILFE for the year ended 31 March 2015
(LB B2l 7~ ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

ZEERNE2INFERR KIMKFER
RSN B2 AKIRR - Bt - &
SEermEFEHESESRZ252HE RS
X REEM[2EBAREIMNMMBEEER

EAREIE

F58EF76 A MM B A B Kk r— o -

The Commission had no components of comprehensive income other
than “surplus for the year” in either of the years presented. Accordingly,
no separate statement of comprehensive income is presented as the

Te U

Commission’s “total comprehensive income” was the same as the “surplus

for the year” in both years.

The notes on pages 58 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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B IR R

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

#201563H 318 as at 31 March 2015
(LL8 851 7 ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

HizE Note

2015
BT HKS

JE 7 B) & E Non-current asset
LER T -y &Y

Property, plant and equipment
BN E E Current assets

Hib Uk - e MIBRAR

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Be RRITHET

Cash and bank balances

i) & {& Current liabilities

Hi AR RERTER

Other payables and accruals
BE=BRERB

Provision for staff entitlements

T8 U B 7 B

Government subventions received in advance

&~ TXUT #68 B 2 B R

Subvention surplus account payable to the Government

7B & E R {E Net current assets

44 5 B 5 % B £ {& Total assets less current liabilities
JE % B & {& Non-current liabilities

BEZHHRE

Provision for staff entitlements

B U IR A 8 BY)

Government subventions received in advance

B E B {E Net assets
B £FUNDS
HEES

Reserve fund

& 2 7201558 H13H #b & & 1% 1 Tl 3

5 12,507,078 13,917,277

6 983,845 128,122

7 72,177,366 53,981,982

73,161,211 54,110,104

8 4,147,942 14,006,780

9 2,157,267 629,329

3 13,364,065 7,507,338
10 16,137,374 -

35,806,648 22,143,447

37,354,563 31,966,657

49,861,641 45,883,934

9 2,696,555 115,020

3 15,000,000 15,000,000

17,696,555 15,115,020

32,165,086 30,768,914

10 32,165,086 30,768,914

HHALE Anna Wu Hung Yuk

BEETE

Chairperson of the Commission

Approved and authorised for issue by the Commission on 13 August 2015

FES8EF76EMMNEBAMBEIHRE —=E2 ©  The notes on pages 58 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

H £2015%F3 4318 LLEE for the year ended 31 March 2015
(L{8# 31 7= ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

(RtBR), 7
#EESE

(Accumulated

deficit)/
reserve fund
BT HKS

7201354818 2 # 82 Balance at 1 April 2013 (20,000)
2013/20145FE EE £ %8 : Change in funds for 2013/2014:
FRAEBREZEMREBE

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 30,788,914
2014538310 % 2014548 108 24 &% Balance at 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 30,768,914
2014/20155E & £ % 8) : Changes in funds for 2014/2015:

FARBREE WS ETE

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 17,533,546
B\ BUR # B B A IR P

Transfer to subvention surplus account payable to the Government (16,137,374)
1201553310 2 # 8% Balance at 31 March 2015 32,165,086

F58EF76 B MM EBAME MK —HE ©  The notes on pages 58 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

H £2015%F3 431H LLEE for the year ended 31 March 2015
(LL8 851 7 ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

Ktz Note

2015
BT HKS

& {8 /E E) Operating activities
FNAER
Surplus for the year
HE:
Adjustments for:
e
Depreciation
M EWA
Interest income
EEREe 228 :
Changes in working capital:
Hfth FE MR - 2@ K FET FRIE AN
Increase in other receivables, deposits and prepayments
Hth SRR ETER O d), Em
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals
BEZHEREEM
Increase in provision for staff entitlements
T8 Y IBFF # BA 1 A
Increase in Government subventions received in advance
BETHFSRLFER
Net cash generated from operating activities
12 &5 B Investing activities
2HAE
Interest received
XNBEME MR LREHIA
Payment for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment
JRTF R AR R = E A B ER1TFE R
Placement of bank deposits with original maturity
over three months

REFHFARSFE

Net cash used in investing activities

ReRBASEVCEY) EMEHE

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

FUZBRERRESEY

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

FRZBRERRESEY

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

FS8EF76HHIM EBEAM B RERN— 87 -

17,533,546 30,788,914
6,406,981 851,250

(687,154) (8,373)

(825,996) (125,742)

(3,299,072) 6,188,868

4,109,473 744,349

5,856,727 22,507,338

29,094,505 60,946,604

657,427 5,993

(11,556,548) (6,970,615)
(40,000,000) -
(50,899,121) (6,964,622)
(21,804,616) 53,981,982

53,981,982 -

7 32,177,366 53,981,982

COMPETITION COMMISSION ‘ 57 ‘ ANNUAL REPORT 2014/ 2015

The notes on pages 58 to 76 form part of these financial statements.



Br iRk

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 R R B B

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EZ2015% 3831 H ILFE for the year ended 31 March 2015

(LB B2l 7~ ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)
—REHN

FEBZEE(IHEE]) A—EARKEGGES
B (C1&H51)) (58619% ) B KB A TE B
CABERITUEAD c REESHIIEERER
SR UERY FE130 R 1311E - BESHNIES
EMNREHESD  aXERAFHNRFRE
HAHEBETRELRE BEEEREFAY
ZNERERE BHESHEMPERZRE
VST 2R KRB R 2135 AR /E361E3601F -

1.

B3
i
i
fS

RBCERPD 552215 - BE GBI R(THB
iR T BB

2. EETEHBER

(a) BHIEHA

AUMBBRRERBEEESAMAE ([FEEE
BhAE ) Min BB B REER (BEMH

HEAD) - WHEEEEMEERNERNEE
MBmEEN - FEETENRRE  UEE
BRRBETRAIMRE - HEREMRMZTE
SRR EBHN T -

BRI RERM TETHKERMBRS
HANDWERT R —BH2E  ARBZEARF
Erest BEMAE AR - RAZKEFTNER
LRBUBRZE@NMBERRLESATE - &
ZRERAF LT BRI AR R A = R AR
HE] R i

o

AP BRRTIEBELRAAEELERY -

R EH

1. General information

Competition Commission (the “Commission”) is established under the
Competition Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), Cap. 619, as an independent
statutory body tasked with the functions to enforce the Ordinance. The
functions and powers of the Commission are stipulated in Sections 130
and 131 of the Ordinance. The Commission is committed to promoting
a competitive environment that is conductive to free flow of trade,
efficiency and innovation that brings more choices and better quality and
prices of goods and services to consumers. The address of its registered
office is Room 3601, 36/F, Wu Chung House, 213 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Commission is exempt from taxation in respect of the Inland Revenue
Ordinance in accordance with Schedule 5 of Section 22 of the Ordinance.

2. Significant accounting policies

(a)

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all

Statement of compliance

applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by
the Commission is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs and one new
Interpretation that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Commission. The adoption of these amendments and Interpretation
did not have material impact on the Commission’s financial statements
and the Commission has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.
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(a) EHIREA ()
AP BHEREABTT (TET]) 25 - METH

FEBMREMINEEE -

(b) BIIFEHRRGBBEE

ERAETA(BEAMBHRESEAD T HHRE
B BEEEFRSFLRFESHRRNER
AREE - B  BAMIENREBENH
- AETMER - BEAFTMARERKREE R
ERBAEERIRAEERBEARSAENS
HEMARELN  HERBRERMEEY
TRMSMNEERE BRIREERAEL A
B2 - BIRAGRAIBEA I AAT B -

ERE R TUEN S A ANER - MR
EHHENETR 2V EX 9 - KYEE
B ARER ¢ 1045 AT 88 A1 R R K 2
SARE AR 3T O BRI A R
B -

(0 Y% HBERRE
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i 3% SRR B BE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EHZ2015%3 A31H ILF[E for the year ended 31 March 2015
(LB B %) 7R ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued)

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS"),
which is the same as the functional currency of the Commission.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenditure. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. The costs of project-in-progress comprise
expenditure of capital projects not yet completed. Costs on completed
projects are transferred to the appropriate asset category. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income and expenditure account during
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EZ2015% 3831 H ILFE for the year ended 31 March 2015

(LB B2l 7~ ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2. FEEFHBEE)

() W% - HERRE (&)

PEDRYME - #a8 LREOKANEIRREG
AIRE(NE)  BRUAEMG IERFEHNRE
RRORHEE

- MEMERE  BESN%=F
(AEE % B %)

- BAZRE =%

- EMBHRRE =%

- BARETEE =7

- sE B

EETRAETR IR AEERTERE -

BENAEAPRMEE (B EREF TN

st o

GREEBESRPREMME  BERREB
MIREE - NEEEBREIR - MEBER
RREEEXMMNREELEMNIREEE
BRI D 2 RS Y TR B PR - BE RPN
MENRESELABUNTIREKEELERR
BERFEEAEFEHAEERNETHRSE - &
AHEERER AR ARRESRESRPRE
MERERE  MARRXERRTEGE KA
fMONERREEENZEENEAR AR - RN
FAATE TE R] 0 R BB O (i R B 2R IR M or ey B
£ EEEESEESRMD -

WERHEEMAYE BB RREBAELNIR
HAHEMGFREEENREECHANER
BE YRBEXHEBAEKRZIABFERA
iE o

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Shorter of the lease term

Leasehold improvements

or 3 years
- Office equipment 3 years
- Computer hardware and software 3 years
- Furniture and fixtures 3 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

No provision for depreciation is made for project-in-progress until such
time when the assets are substantially completed and ready for use.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure account if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an
asset, or of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the assets. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and
are recognised in the income and expenditure account on the date of
retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EHZ2015%3 A31H ILF[E for the year ended 31 March 2015
(LB B %) 7R ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Operating lease charges

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income and
expenditure account on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

(e) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts, except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised when there
is objective evidence of impairment and are measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate where the effect of discounting is material. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that come to the attention of the
Commission about events that have an impact on the asset’s estimated
future cash flows such as significant financial difficulty of the debtor.

Impairment losses for receivables whose recovery is considered doubtful
but not remote are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Commission is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against the receivable directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in the income and expenditure account.
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EZ2015% 3831 H ILFE for the year ended 31 March 2015

(LB B2l 7~ ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)
2. FEEFHBERGERE)

(H EHtESRREFER

H i e IRIA K BT & BER A A ERER -
HRBEHR AR - BRIFERIRT BT
/B - RIS AN BI R

(99 BERBREFEY

RekReFEVERRTERLRE - R
RERTT R B A IS B R0E BTF 5% - RAZ A
BRBMENRE  HWEREAERRAEREHM
MINER  BEZHHTENEARTKA - RR7F
Mg =8 A REIH -

(h) EESEF

() ESRH HmheREMEBE
BEAZENFR OmHMEeNEMLE
EREZSENRAAEER -HEBD
12 4 AR 75 1 2 A B9 R DR R ~ 497 BAY
EREMFEERERPREFLEE -

BEAIZENRR DBREBRERSGERR
BEKRRETT THER -

BERNZH  BRBAAERAIRE
eNAKE ([BRABEDREZERKRK
FE®HN - 2EEHEREREHKIRR

HERRR/FA

(i) ERECARMNETE
BReCMA—ERCGRBIERAE RS
B TR RFIENTER S -

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Other payables and accruals

Other payables and accruals are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

(h) Employee benefits

(i)  Employee leave, gratuity and other entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave, gratuity and other
entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for untaken annual
leave, gratuity and other entitlements as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the year end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave, maternity leave and paternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Employee benefit expenses, including pensions and housing
benefits provided by the Government to the civil service staff
seconded (“seconded staff”) to the Commission, are charged
as expenditure on an accrual basis in the period in which the
associated services are rendered.

(i) Defined contribution retirement scheme

The Commission has joined and made contributions to a mandatory
provident fund scheme established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance.
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EHZ2015%3 A31H ILF[E for the year ended 31 March 2015
(LB B %) 7R ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)  Defined contribution retirement scheme (continued)

The obligations for contributions to mandatory provident
fund scheme are recognised as an expense in the income and
expenditure account as incurred. The Commission has no further
payment obligation once the contributions have been paid.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Commission in an independently trustee-administered fund.

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Commission has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. When the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(j). Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Commission and the income and expenditure, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, income is recognised in the income and expenditure
account as follows:
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EZ2015% 3831 H ILFE for the year ended 31 March 2015

(LB B2l 7~ ) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

2.
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(i)  FEKA
FEW AR R ERR A RERFER °

(i) FEELA

TR AL PR AT 2 ERER

BAREAL (k)

(i) %Z/\iﬁ%ik%ﬁ%i&%%)wﬁﬁ\
ENEBAL REZAL:

(@) HEZSHEGIHARES

(b) HBEZSHEEAFEN =

() R#H
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SNETEEEKE -

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Income recognition (continued)

(i)  Government subventions

Government subventions are recognised initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the
Commission will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Government subventions that compensate the Commission for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in the income and
expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Government subventions relating
to specific projects are deferred and recognised in the income and
expenditure account over the period necessary to match them with
the costs that they are intended to compensate.

(i) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

(iii)
Sundry income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Sundry income

Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Commission if that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the Commission;
(b) has significant influence over the Commission; or

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Commission.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Related parties (continued)

(i)  An entity is related to the Commission if any of the following
conditions applies:

(@) The entity and the Commission are members of the
same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Commission or an
entity related to the Commission.

(f)  The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person
identified in (k)(i).

(g) A person identified in (k)(i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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3. KT8 B B 78 U BX AT #6 Bh

B B Ty 1e &= A R R TTBRE BT ([BRAT ))
AT BRRSRHEBRENES - BKRFHBE
BN 2 FEIRRR A B2 /0 & R BR TS M FA U B K
B WERREELEARMERBREHE
ERHEE FIERIR B AR RUEA

T 2 ¥R EARR L #O BROFS 478 B SR W ST B R B
R BT B H IR K

3. Government subventions and Government
subventions received in advance

Government subventions represent the funds granted by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“the Government”) for
the Commission’s services. Government subventions received in advance
represents subventions received in connection with various services
to be provided after the end of the reporting period and are deferred
and recognised as income in the income and expenditure account on a
systematic basis in the same period in which the expenses are incurred.

Reconciliation between Government subventions granted for the year
and Government subventions recognised in the income and expenditure
account during the year:

2015 2014
BT HK$ BT HK$
AN T 2 BT BY)
Government subventions granted for the year 86,419,000 87,678,000
m: RERWHBEANEER
Add: Subventions transferred from received in advance during the year 7,263,273 -
93,682,273 87,678,000
B TR WA B
Less: Subventions received in advance
— R+ @A RAK
- To be recognised within 12 months (13,120,000) (7,507,338)

— R+ EARAK

- To be recognised after 12 months

PSR B P E R O BT B

- (15,000,000)
(13,120,000) (22,507,338)

Government subventions recognised in the income and

expenditure account

80,562,273 65,170,662
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4. WERX 4. Staff expenses
2015
BT HK$
Fr BN Ko H At 12 A
Salaries and other benefits 33,236,343 12,066,641
a8y NS /N e oy e A
Pensions and contributions to mandatory provident fund scheme 925,066 2,965,119
34,161,409 15,031,760
5. WE - #BERRE 5. Property, plant and equipment

ENEHR
HE B4 HER
MEEE BAER Computer B RE f2ER

Leasehold Office hardware Furniture Motor Project- &t
improvements equipment and software  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS

KA

Cost

7201354 H1H

At 1 April 2013 - - - - - - -
BE

Additions 6,610,882 1,054,875 6,009,803 497,067 - 595,900 14,768,527
7201453 A318

At 31 March 2014 6,610,882 1,054,875 6,009,803 497,067 - 595,900 14,768,527
RiHE

Accumulated depreciation

7201354 418

At 1 April 2013 - - - - - - -
k-]

Charges 435,555 57,470 333,233 24,992 - - 851,250

7201453 A31H
At 31 March 2014 435,555 57,470 333,233 24,992 -

IREE

Carrying amount

R2014F3A31H
At 31 March 2014 6,175,327 997,405 5,676,570 472,075 - 595,900 13,917,277

851,250
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5. Y% MBRRME(E) 5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

EREHR
HE B4 HiHR
MELE HOIER Computer BEE£E RE EREH

Leasehold Office hardware Furniture Motor Project-
improvements equipment and software  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress
BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS

KA

Cost

120144718

At 1 April 2014 6,610,882 1,054,875 6,009,803 497,067 - 595,900 14,768,527
EE

Additions 1,332,095 227,092 3,106,616 45,302 285,677 - 4,996,782
B2

Transfers - - 595,900 - - (595,900) -
72015637318

At 31 March 2015 7,942,977 1,281,967 9,712,319 542,369 285,677 - 19,765,309
RiHE

Accumulated depreciation

201454715

At 1 April 2014 435,555 57,470 333,233 24,992 - - 851,250
nE

Charges 3,115,780 380,282 2,689,804 173,502 47,613 - 6,406,981

720153 A31H
At 31 March 2015 3,551,335 437,752 3,023,037 198,494 47,613 - 7,258,231

REE

Carrying amount
R201563 4317

At 31 March 2015 4,391,642 844,215 6,689,282 343,875 238,064 - 12,507,078
xh Tra) =% o .
6. HEUWM - - HERFEMNRK 6. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
2015 2014
#JT HKS BT HKS
H b & U 5K
Other receivables 79,500 2,541
me RIBAK
Deposits and prepayments 904,345 125,581

983,845 128,122
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7. RERMBITERF 7. Cash and bank balances
2015
BT HKS
Re MIRITHER
Cash and bank balances 7,177,366 53,981,982

REFRMT B8 = A WEHRITER

Short-term bank deposits with original maturity not

more than three months 25,000,000 -
ReRkBCEFEY
Cash and cash equivalents 32,177,366 53,981,982
[R1F R AR A = E A 80 R1T 17 K
Bank deposits with original maturity over three months 40,000,000 -
72,177,366 53,981,982
8. HitENMRREER 8. Other payables and accruals

2015

BT HKS

J& 5 BT KO8 (B 22)

Amount due to the Government (note) 813,461 3,032,189

Hit

Others 3,334,481 10,974,591
4,147,942 14,006,780

e - B ERITOE AEKIR - REFE RZAIRERKE  Note: Amount due to the Government is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
B o BREZRRBUTEFRE MR demand. The balance mainly represents unpaid cost for staff seconded from
the Government.
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9. BESZHERSG

F7)
At beginning of the year
B

Provisions made
BUH

Forfeitures
BEXfr e
Amounts paid

FR
At end of the year

B OmBE Y
Less: Current portion
FERBED

Non-current portion

BEORMNEBEBERAXNBEZERENAN
HEREOPRNOMNE - RRRFREE
fEEZERMRL -

10. EEES

EEESHRIERMEFLNRERE - #
BESHARBANBRFME WX BERR
IR (B N IR E WA PTAERK - NS E 8 B
EHR  HEESARBHNBRFMEAES
SR8 T 18/ B E 2 BUT #8 B BB 9 25% (T
wLER]) - REESAE-—RAZ YHBRZ
CEHTER RIESHHELEERRBTH
MikERM EEMERERAVREERELR
(BR) RIBFAFRE LR - DREBHHEELR
HR B A BV R B B R B BB RITTERIR IR
¥ (T -

9. Provision for staff entitlements
2015 2014
AT HKS BT HKS
744,349 _
4,375,381 744,349
(181,712) -
(84,196) -
4,853,822 744,349
(2,157,267) (629,329)
2,696,555 115,020

Provision for staff entitlements is set up for the gratuity payments,
unutilised annual leave and other staff-related benefits which will be
payable to employees of the Commission upon their fulfilment during
the contract period or at end of the contract period.

10. Reserve fund

The reserve fund is established to meet operational contingencies.
The reserve fund comprises unspent Government subventions to the
Commission, plus the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
and investment income. The total amount of the unspent Government
subventions at the end of a financial year shall not exceed 25% of the
Government subventions to the Commission in the following financial
year (“the reserve ceiling”). The reserve fund is available for general
use and can be spent at the discretion of the Commission. The amount
of unspent Government subventions to the Commission at the end of
a financial year in excess of the reserve ceiling would be returned to
the Government, unless the reserve ceiling is raised by the Permanent
Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development (Commerce,
Industry and Tourism) following consultation with the Financial Services
and the Treasury Bureau (The Treasury Branch).
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11. EXHEBAFERS
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10. Reserve fund (continued)

Based on the reserve ceiling as at 31 March 2015, the surplus in excess of
the reserve ceiling amounting to $16,137,374 should be returned to the
Government in the next financial year. On 6 July 2015, the Government
approved the Commission to retain and deploy the surplus in excess
of the reserve ceiling in order to meet the committed and planned

expenditures of the Commission.

11. Material related party transactions

The Commission entered into the following material related party
transactions during the year:

2015

BT HKS

FEEEASRM

Key management compensation
e M HMIE R

Salaries and other benefits
BRESRTEREATERESE 2 HR

Pensions and contributions to mandatory provident fund scheme

HRETEEMS

Honorarium to Commission members

BEEMXHMNERXH

Staff benefit expenses and premises expenses

HA &P (A ita)

Other Government departments (note (a))

Wit -

@ (EFRBE MR R E M A E R X dE MR
JRF B P IA T $R 2 35 77 U ©

by BRHKBERERRBENBRS (&R N
ZEMNZERFTEEEABAEREGERZD
i) REH B EBBREFRBHRZSNMG
EERESRBREFRHET -

COMPETITION COMMISSION

10,161,369 4,590,930
196,209 1,144,892
10,357,578 5,735,822
3,786,667 3,520,000
1,471,151 10,889,564

Notes:

(a) Costs of other seconded staff and office expenses are charged by other
departments of the Government on a reimbursement basis.

(b)  All transactions related to the procurement of goods and services involving
organisations in which a member of the Commission and key management
personnel may have an interest are conducted in the normal course of
business and in accordance with the Commission’s financial obligations and

normal procurement procedures.
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12. &if

(a) BEARFXEE
RIBEME - 3B RRER 2B N R
BB AR AENT

12. Commitments

(a)

Capital expenditure commitments outstanding at end of the reporting

Capital expenditure commitments

period in respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

BEVAL

Contracted for
BERZEBREILED

Authorised but not contracted for

(b) ZEHEEAIRE
BREREBE-ENELERE  NFHOKH
3% - BAEEEM - WHETEFEHNES -

RERPKR  HEXERTAMEcLERER
RARREN 2 ZEEEAZERET ¢

2015
BT HKS
862,918 1,164,299
2,089,820 285,677
2,952,738 1,449,976

(b) Commitments under operating lease

The Commission leases a property under operating lease, which runs for
an initial period of 3 years, with an option to renew the lease. The lease
does not include contingent rentals.

At the end of the reporting period, the Commission had future aggregate
minimum lease payments under a non-cancellable operating lease, which
is payable as follows:

—F R
Within 1 year

—FRERFR
After 1 year but within 5 years

5,628,237 5,628,237
1,876,080 7,504,317
7,504,317 13,132,554
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13. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments

The Commission’s principal financial instrument comprises bank
balances, of which the purpose is to maintain the Commission’s
operations. The Commission has other financial instruments, such as
other receivables, deposits, other payables and accruals and Government
subventions received in advance, which arise directly from its operations.
The Commission is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk which arise
directly from its activities. The Commission generally adopts conservative
strategies on the Commission’s risk management and limits the
Commission’s exposure to these risks to a minimum.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
obligations to repay the amounts due to the Commission resulting
in a loss to the Commission. The Commission’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to bank balances, which are deposited with financial
institutions in Hong Kong with sound credit ratings and minimal credit

exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Commission’s financial assets
represents their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. The
Commission does not hold any collateral over these assets.

(b) Liquidity risk

The Commission’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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13. HEEMETEMEMITAMNA AR 13. Financial risk management and fair value of
8 (&) financial instruments (continued)

(b) RBELE (E) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)

REFRPR  HESEEERBEANSEEEZ  The remaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the
BEFAEBHHE T RUMRZEHEEHA

Bragn T - based on the earliest date on which the Commission is required to settle

Commission’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period,

is summarised below:

2015
REBREHRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FLLTE —FE
BN B ZI HA HRFRT
Within More than
1 year 1 year but R E B
or on less than Carrying
demand 5 years amount
BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS
BEZERERE
Provision for staff entitlements 2,157,267 2,696,555 4,853,822 4,853,822
T8 W ER 1T 45 BN
Government subventions received in advance 13,364,065 15,000,000 28,364,065 28,364,065
HMENRRETER
Other payables and accruals 4,147,942 - 4,147,942 4,147,942
JE < U B 46 B B R IR
Subvention surplus account payable
to the Government 16,137,374 - 16,137,374 16,137,374

35,806,648 17,696,555 53,503,203 53,503,203
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T8 WS BR A 6 B

Government subventions received in advance

Hi AR ERE A
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() EWER
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(d) EAXRERER
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13. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

2014
REGBE LR SR
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

—F ATk — &P E
B B 21 B BREUT
Within More than

1 year 1 year but
oron less than
demand 5 years
JBIT HKS JBIT HKS

REE
Carrying
amount
BT HKS

629,329 115,020 744,349 744,349
7,507,338 15,000,000 22,507,338 22,507,338
14,006,780 - 14,006,780 14,006,780
22,143,447 15,115,020 37,258,467 37,258,467

(c) Currency risk

The Commission has no exposure to currency risk as all of the
Commission’s transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(d) Capital risk management

The Commission’s primary objectives when managing its funds are to
safeguard the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. The

Commission’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

(e) Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Commission’s financial instruments carried
at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 March 2015 and 2014.
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14. LB =F

EFUBRHATOELARE  URAAEENT
15. HZ20155F3831HILFEES:
HAR S 98448 5 R & B9 I8 ET »
HEARZREUETRNEE

Be
HEXRUBRERAMBEL  BESHMAE
BB EIEEE] R LR - MR B E 201553
A31BIEFEMWARER - AU EHmEILIZH K
Mz E AR o

R el LR A X FERT R ERIS &R ER
HRMERNTE - ZBAIAL  BEERAAR
RNZIER] BT BT AR BEH R R G
BREREATE -

14. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to current
year's presentation.

15. Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2015

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a few amendments and new standards which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2015 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements.

The Commission is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and new standards is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Commission’s
financial statements.
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